# Analysis of Surrogacy Regulations in India: Rules, Challenges and Future Changes

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1. Abstract	2
2. Introduction	2
3. Methodology	3
4. Literature Review	4
5. A Controversial Ban on Commercial Surrogacy and Its Impact	5
6. Amendments to the Surrogacy (Regulation) Rules, 2022.	6
7. How Does The New Amendment Affect the LGBTQ Community?	7
8. Why Can't Single Women avail Surrogacy in India?	8
9. Surrogacy Regulations: An Insight into Foreign Jurisdiction	9
10. Policy Recommendations	10
11. Conclusion	11
12. References	12

#### 1. Abstract

The term surrogacy implies a condition wherein, a woman called a surrogate gives birth to a child for another couple or intended parents. The use of surrogacy to avail a child has become popular in today's time, with increase in infertility rates among couples around the world, the wish to have a child at an older age and also homsexual couples need to opt for a child. With this increasing demand for surrogacy, several nations have laws that regulate surrogacy, according to the social norms that prevail in those countries and to avoid exploitation of surrogates. The paper below analyses the surrogacy regulations in India, the changes required and the future challenges.

#### 2. Introduction

The term surrogacy originates from the Latin word 'Surrogatus', which means a woman acting as a substitute for another woman. The surrogate is usually impregnated through In Vitro Fertilisation (IVF), using the eggs from surrogate or egg donor and sperm from a sperm donor, to create embryo. The embryo is implanted in the surrogate who carries it for 9 months and once the baby is born, it is handed over to the intended parents. The child is biologically considered to belong to the intended couple. Surrogacy is an option for women who cannot carry a child, for couples with medical conditions, for single women who wish to have a child and also for same sex couples. It's not easy to avail surrogacy as it is bound by various government restrictions across the globe. Some countries allow commercial and altruistic surrogacies, the practice of commercial surrogacy is banned in many countries, especially the developed ones.

Kanupriya alias Durga was born in 1978, through the process of IVF. This gave hope to use surrogacy as an Alternative Reproductive Technique (ART). This was the beginning of 'reproductive tourism' in India. In 2002, commercial surrogacy was legalised, this is said to have made India, a supermarket for surrogacy, which attracted a large number of foreign clients due to the cheaper cost of surrogacy compared to foreign countries. There was no bill, law or legislation framed in this context to guide surrogacy. This resulted in the rise of uncontrolled surrogacy in India. Cities like Anand in Gujarat became the cradle of surrogacy, with large surrogacy clinics set up across India. Certain guidelines issued by Indian Council for Medical Research (ICMR) but were not accurately codified. There was no clear mention of who can avail surrogacy, what are the conditions that define infertility, how many embryos can be inserted at one point or the maximum or minimum payments given to the surrogate. This led to a sharp rise in surrogacy in India. According to a Hindustan Times article titled 'MOMS MARKET'

in 2012, the cost of surrogacy in the US was 65 lakhs while in India it cost 4 lakhs<sup>1</sup>. Packages were offered based on the number of embryo transfers, surrogates background and legal work. The CII (Confederation of Indian Industry) Report of 2012 states that the surrogacy industry in India was worth 2 billion dollars. As India was established as a centre of surrogacy, due to lack of unframed laws, there was a rise in exploitation cases of surrogate mothers in the context of commercial surrogacy. The ART bill 2013 banned homosexual couples, live-in couples and foreign single individuals from availing surrogacy in India.

In 2015 after careful consideration the government decided to ban commercial surrogacy and the The Surrogacy (Regulation) Bill, 2016 was drafted which allowed only altruistic surrogacy and gave a new definition of infertility. The Surrogacy (Regulation) Bill, 2019 which was an exact replica of the 2016 bill, was placed before the Parliament. In 2021, the President passed the bill and Surrogacy (Regulation) Act 2021, was enacted.

On February 21,2024 amendments were made to the Surrogacy (Regulation) Rules, 2022. The paper analyses, whether banning commercial surrogacy altogether was a good call on the part of government, do the new amendments made in 2024 relaxes the surrogacy procedure further and critically analyse whether the restrictions on homosexual couples and single women to access surrogacy is correct in a country like India.

# 3. Methodology

The following paper is written after referring to several research articles on surrogacy and evolution of surrogacy practices in India. One has also studied the laws, bills, acts and guidelines that were passed in relation to surrogacy regulation in India. The foreign jurisdiction on surrogacy laws were studied and compared with Indian laws to know whether there are similarities or if some changes need to be made. The paper talks about the sudden controversial ban on the commercial surrogacy in India and its impact. After studying the recent amendments to the Surrogacy Regulation Rules 2022, the paper discusses the right of the homosexual couple and single women's access to surrogacy. Lastly, it provides policy recommendations to further ease the process of surrogacy in India under a regulated framework of laws.

-

https://www.hindustantimes.com/india/moms-market/story-4V8X4IoEqLMRO82K3x50XI.html

#### 4. Literature Review

In the course of the entire paper, several research articles, newspaper articles, blogs, bills, acts, guidelines were referred to. Following is the literature review of some important ones:

- The Times of India article, 'Commercialization of Surrogacy in India: The effects of Globalisation', gives a detail history of surrogacy laws in India, and mainly stresses on the point that since the world is more connected and open, wherein the LGBTQ+ rights are being recognized, India must allow the right to practise surrogacy to the homosexual couples. In addition it also criticises the ban on commercial surrogacy by the Indian government stating that it violates the fundamental right of personal liberty under article 21, which allows the women the right to reproduce. While the article in depth traces the journey of surrogacy in India, in the name of globalisation, it ignores the fact that in most of the developed and developing countries surrogacy is either banned or only altruistic surrogacy is performed. Moreover the LGBTQ+ rights to surrogacy are not yet realised in most of the nations and keeping in view the traditional norms and values of the Indian society, it's not yet the right time to confirm those rights.
- A research article titled, 'Surrogacy in India: History, Impact on poor and Facts, starts with an explanation on what exactly is the process of Surrogacy, history behind the surrogacy in India, the opinions of law commission, eligibility criteria for the surrogate and also provides an insight into the international situation on surrogacy.
- The research paper titled 'The advantages and disadvantages of altruistic and commercial surrogacy in India' by Yuri Hibino, compares the two prominent types of surrogacy practised in the world, that is, altruistic and commercial surrogacy. It compares the advantages and disadvantages of both the surrogacies in an Indian scenario and recommends that a modification in the dichotomy between commercial and altruistic surrogacy is required.
- 'Can't have everything in Life:' SC to Unmarried Women Seeking Permission to Use Surrogate is an article from The Wire, that gives details on how the Supreme Court denies a petition to avail surrogacy to unmarried women and gives a reasonable justification on the same.

# 5. A Controversial Ban on Commercial Surrogacy and Its Impact

It is more considerate to talk about this debate, with the help of examples that portray both good and bad effects of commercial surrogacy. In the first example, in 2008, a gay couple from Israel was able to have a child in India through surrogacy, when doing so

was banned in Israel. They returned to Israel once the child was delivered. There have been various instances, among the film industry in India, for example, director Ekta Kapoor, a single woman, had a child through surrogacy.

Since 2002, many commercial surrogacy centres have been set up throughout India, one of them being Anand in Gujarat, which has become the cradle of surrogacy in India. A study at the centre revealed that separate hostels were set up for surrogates to live, separate spaces were provided for them and they were kept under observation for 9 months, to benefit the intended parents, it also allowed the surrogates to hide from their neighbours, since a stigma is attached to surrogates in India, and many people have a lack of knowledge that women get pregnant, without the intercourse.

From Anand to other centres, a benefit from commercial surrogacy was that it had financial gains not only for surrogates but also for the surrounding due to the boost in medical tourism. Since the intended couples extend their stay, it is beneficial for hotels and baby goods shops. Also the surrogates tend to receive a substantial amount of money at a go, which can be useful for their families and help them bring out of poverty, which could not have been possible even in four years of labour work.

Commercial surrogacy provides access to homosexual couples, individuals and foreigners a right to have a child. Notably, the reason for the boost of commercial surrogacy in India was the cheap cost of the entire process, availability of surrogates, since it's an easy way to earn money and an earlier exit from poverty. However, the absence of strict regulations on this entire process led to a complete ban on commercial surrogacy in India in 2015. The laxed laws led to the exploitation of surrogates at the hands of the centres.

In a true incident, a woman named 'Radha' went for surrogacy to release the land of in-laws out of lease. The family now owns a house but Radha's body has become weak after two pregnancies<sup>2</sup>. Surrogate mothers were chosen on the basis of their physical appearances and religion. Most of the poorest women had to undergo two or three pregnancies to come out of poverty, and even so most remain poor, as the amount received is spent on consumer goods. Due to lack of defined laws, multiple embryo transfers are done, which leads to a rise in abortions. The question arose, was the answer to these problems, a complete ban on commercial surrogacy. Many scholars have pointed out that a ban on commercials is a violation of Article 21, that is the right to freedom, which guarantees women liberty to reproduce. It is the choice of the surrogate to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.theindiaforum.in/article/surrogacy-biomarkets-india-troubling-stories-2021-act

become a mother and bear a child. By banning commercial surrogacy, the government has restricted the opportunity for a woman to take her family out of financial miseries. When studying both sides, one observes that, although there are voices that still support some form of commercial surrogacy within a framework of laws, the entire concept of commercial surrogacy is in contradiction with the thinking of Indian society. The government does not want to boost medical tourism in India, by letting women rent their womb. Although commercial surrogacy is a way to earn a lump sum amount, no women opt to become a surrogate unless they are in dire need for money. Being a surrogate is a risky task, as it puts the life of a woman under threat. Commercial surrogacy though has its benefits, and a source through which women can bring their families out of poverty, it is not a dignified option to earn livelihood. In the Indian context, most surrogates belong to a poor family leading to their exploitation as they lack education. Hence a complete ban on commercial surrogacy seems the right way in case of surrogacy laws in India.

#### 6. Amendments to the Surrogacy (Regulation) Rules, 2022.

The Surrogacy (Regulation) Act, 2021 came into force on January 25th, 2022. Under the provisions of this act, commercial surrogacy was prohibited and altruistic surrogacy was introduced. Earlier, intending couples had to wait for 5 years, to prove infertility, this provision was done away with. As per the new law, the intended couple must be a hetrosexual couple or a single woman(divorced or widowed), who could avail surrogacy. Surrogacy can be performed by an intending couple in case they have a medical condition that necessitates gestational surrogacy. According to Surrogacy Regulation Rules, 2022, gestational surrogacy can be opted under following circumstances:

- Woman with absent uterus or missing uterus/or abnormal uterus (like hypoplastic uterus/intrauterine adhesions/thin endometrium/ small unicornuate uterus, T-shaped uterus) or if the uterus is surgically removed due to any medical conditions such as gynaecological cancers.
- Intended parents/woman who has repeatedly failed to conceive after multiple IVF/ICSI attempts. (Recurrent implantation failure).
- Multiple pregnancy losses resulting from an unexplained medical reason. Unexplained graft rejection due to exaggerated immune response.
- Any illness that makes it impossible for a woman to carry a pregnancy to viability or pregnancy that is life threatening.

The surrogate mother must be a married woman with a child of her own, her age between 25 to 35 years and can be a surrogate only once in a lifetime. She must agree to

be a surrogate without any financial incentive. In case of the intended couple, they must not have any biological child previously and medical condition is must in the intended mother. An unmarried woman, in the age group of 35 to 45 years may also qualify for surrogacy, but she may either be divorced or widowed and may not have a biological child earlier.

In March 2023, the government amended the rules, permitting only the use of intended couples' own gametes for surrogacy and not allowing the use of donor gametes. This further narrowed the scope of access to surrogacy for the intending couples, which was a cause of distress. The amendment was challenged in Supreme Court (SC), wherein the SC observed the very objective of the surrogacy would be defied if such rules are implemented.<sup>3</sup>

Thus, on February 21, 2024, new amendments were made to the Surrogacy (Regulation) Rules, 2022, that allowed the use of donor gametes, if either of the spouse among the intending couple suffers from the medical condition and is given a certificate by District Medical Board. However for single women opting for surrogacy, still requires the use of a woman's own eggs alongside donor sperm.

What remains absent throughout the history of surrogacy laws since 2015, is the permission for the homosexual couples and single women (not married) to use surrogacy as a means to have a child. Several petitions have been registered for such concern, but the law remains unchanged.

# 7. How Does The New Amendment Affect the LGBTQ Community?

The Surrogacy (Regulation) Act. 2021, excludes LGBTQ+ community and live-in couples from use of surrogacy. The reason stated by the government is that it would lead to the misuse of surrogacy. The root reason can be the fact that, homosexual relationships though decriminalised are not legal in India. This creates a question on the safety of the child born through surrogacy. Unlike the West, family structure and relations are very much integrated and rooted in Indian society. It is believed that the presence of both parents is essential for the right upbringing of a child. Although controversial, there are an increasing number of examples where the children are suffering through psychological disorders due the distressed family background. It is definitely not correct to predict that the child born to an hetrosexual couple is well brought up and in cases of LGBTQ and live-in couples always suffer from psychological problems, but the chances are high in the latter. It's a long road before surrogacy is probably legalised for LGBTQ community and living couples since, it is not yet legalised in India and when altruistic surrogacy itself comes with a lot of restrictions, the chances of surrogacy rights for LGBTO community is far less. Giving them rights may also

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Arun Muthuvel vs Union of India & ORS, Section PIL-W, Date- 18-10-2023, CORAM : HON'BLE MRS. JUSTICE B.V. NAGARATHNA HON'BLE MR. JUSTICE UJJAL BHUYA

contradict with the larger political and social interest as many metropolitan cities may normalise it but most of India is still rooted in ancient social norms where homosexual relations and live-in couples itself are stigmatised.

#### 8. Why Can't Single Women avail Surrogacy in India?

Surrogacy for single unmarried women is not allowed in India. A petition was filed in the Supreme Court against the law, where the bench remarked that, there are other ways for women to have children where she can either get married or consider adoption. Speaking on the same, the bench said, "It is difficult to rear and bring up a surrogate child at the advanced age of 44. You cannot have everything in life. Your client preferred to remain single. We are also concerned about society and the institution of marriage. We are not like the West where many children do not know about their mothers and fathers. We do not want children roaming here without knowing about their fathers and mothers." "Science has advanced but not the social norms and that is for some good reason," the court said.<sup>5</sup>

The above verdict indicates that the Indian society is not yet open to such changes and perceiving from what the West is facing, it is taking conscious steps in the direction. Further reasons to not allow surrogacy for single women could be the concern regarding the wellbeing of children received in single-parent households. There also exists this fear that it may lead to commercialization of surrogacy. And the most obvious is to preserve the traditional family values which makes us different from the West. In the current scenario, surrogacy laws may not be in favour of single women, however there are prospects with ever changing global scenarios and mindsets that the laws may be evolved in their favour.

# 9. Surrogacy Regulations: An Insight into Foreign Jurisdiction

Surrogacy is legal in most of the countries around the world. In some countries laws are in place that guide surrogacy whereas some countries have a complete ban on surrogacy and have termed it illegal. Since with legality comes safety, parents consider places where surrogacy is guided by laws. It is important to note that in most of the countries commercial surrogacy is banned and only altruistic surrogacy is allowed. Commercial surrogacy is banned in Canada, Australia, Brazil, England and New Zealand. These countries only account for altruistic surrogacy. Adding to the list is now India which has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> JASWINDER JAUR VS UNION OF INDIA & ORS, DATE: 5-02-2024, CORAM : HON'BLE MRS. JUSTICE B.V. NAGARATHNA HON'BLE MR. JUSTICE AUGUSTINE GEORGE MASIH

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{https://thewire.in/rights/cant-have-everything-in-life-sc-to-unmarried-woman-seeking-permission-to-us}{e-a-surrogate\#:~:text=We%20are%20not%20like%20the,reason%2C%E2%80%9D%20the%20court%20said.}$ 

put a ban on commercial surrogacy. In Canada, foreign nationals are also allowed to access surrogacy, but since no monetary compensation can be paid to the surrogates, except the medical expenses, there is a waiting list of surrogate mothers. If there is a donor, it must be identified in case of surrogacy in Australia. The law in both the countries, does not allow homosexual couples to avail surrogacy.

Now comes countries like Germany, France, Spain, Portugal, Bulgaria and Italy where all forms of surrogacy are banned. It is important to note that most of these countries are developed countries. Practising surrogacy is even considered illegal in Germany. Not only in Europe but many countries in Asia too, do not allow surrogacy like China, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia and Japan.

The USA is the most preferred option, where surrogacy is available not only for hetrosexual couples but also for homosexual relations and single mothers. However not all states in the USA allow for commercial surrogacy, parents must find out which states have laws that allow commercial surrogacy. For example in the state of California all forms of surrogacy is allowed, in New Jersey only altruistic surrogacy is allowed whereas in states like New York, North Dakota and Indianna, surrogacy is not allowed.

Talking about the countries which have become a surrogacy hub since commercial surrogacy is practised in these countries, the first name that pops is Georgia. Commercial surrogacy is legal in Georgia, however only married heterosexual couples can opt for surrogacy, which again put a ban on gay couples' right to surrogacy. Ukraine was a surrogacy hub, until Russia's invasion of Ukraine. Commercial surrogacy was regulated, but only for married heterosexual couples which allowed foreigners. It excluded gay couples and single mothers from the ambit of surrogacy. Surrogacy is also allowed in Russia, however due to the criticism from the religious groups, they may soon implement a law barring foreign nationals from availing surrogacy.

Since Thailand and Cambodia prohibited commercial surrogacy, Laos has become a new surrogacy destination. There are no laws in Laos that regulate surrogacy and neither a ban is put on surrogacy practice. Compensated surrogacy for foreigners is also permitted.

Considering the above condition of surrogacy laws in above nations, India seems not to be lacking behind in terms of evolution of the laws, but seems to follow the global trend. Like most nations, India has put a ban on commercial surrogacy, citing the exploitation of surrogates and the profit making business by the middleman and clinics. It is important to note that, most of the developed countries in Europe and Asia have a complete ban on surrogacy. In the USA too, it is permissible in only a few states.

There seems a pattern wherein, it is the developing or underdeveloped countries where commercial surrogacy is practised, however now they too seem to put a ban on it, notably India and Thailand. Surrogacy laws in India when compared to foreign

jurisdiction, seem not much to contradict, in fact being more in line with the international laws.

What is more vibrant is the ban on homosexual couples and single mothers from right to surrogacy in almost all countries, barring a few. Thus, it can be said that surrogacy laws face challenges, not just in India, but also in most jurisdictions, and there is a need for them to evolve.

#### 10. Policy Recommendations

#### 1. Easing the criteria to become a Surrogate

- According to the Surrogacy Regulations 2022, a surrogate must be a married woman, have a child of her own, and is restricted from donating her eggs and gametes to an intending couple if required.
- In order to give more relief to the intended couple, and to search for a surrogate, some relaxation in the above criteria seems necessary.
- The recommendation proposes that the surrogate can be any woman, not necessarily married or have a child of her own. Moreover, the surrogate must be allowed to donate her egg gametes if the intending couple needs them.

#### 2. Paid Leave of 1 Month to Surrogate Post Surrogacy

- In India, post-pregnancy, if the mother is a working woman, she has a right to take a paid maternity leave of 6 months. This is provided for the mother to recover from childbirth and bond with the baby. This is a legal leave granted by the government and even the private sector has to grant it to the women.
- For a surrogate mother, although she may have to hand over the child to the intended parents, as a woman she still requires time to recover from post-childbirth and become psychologically stable from the emotion of departing from the child.
- It is recommended that the government make a regulation that legally mandates such a provision, which is enforceable in both the private and public sectors.

# 3. Mandatory Counselling Certificate for Intending Parents and Surrogate

- As per the Surrogacy Regulation Rules 2022, counseling is mandatory for intended parents and surrogates.
- However, there are chances that such clauses may be violated and there are lack of regulations to track them
- Counseling is necessary to make the surrogate and intended parents mentally and emotionally prepared for the surrogacy. The surrogate must have a brief idea of the risk of surrogacy and the legal provisions.

 Hence the clause must be made more stringent wherein the parties must demonstrate a certificate, that they have spoken to a counsellor and taken legal advice from a solicitor for at least 3 months, before advancing for surrogacy. The counselor must only be a government-licensed practitioner, to avoid cases of forged certificate making.

#### 11. Conclusion

The surrogacy laws in India have gone from being absent to being too vigilant. The reason for such a move is the consequences that were seen in the absence of any laws, the exploitation, and the discriminatory practices that took place with the surrogate mothers. Banning the practice of commercial surrogacy could also be seen as an effect of foreign jurisdiction wherein most of the countries have banned commercial surrogacy, including the UK, whose laws are copied in India, India being the former colony of the UK. As discussed above a complete ban on commercial surrogacy is a correct option in the Indian context, which stops the exploitation of poor women. The ban on gay couples and single women having children through surrogacy seems not to be removed in the near future, due to concerns regarding the welfare of the child and the fact that homosexual marriages are not legalized in India. In such an absence, the property rights, along with other rights and the security of the child is put to test. Hence, only after same-sex marriages are legalized in India, can one think of the right to surrogacy for homosexual couples. Surrogacy Bill 2021 and the succeeding amendments are a great step towards legalizing the practice of surrogacy in India and giving a right of parenthood to those who can't have it naturally. However, more relaxations are needed in the laws, wherein one can access it easily who wishes to pursue the root of parenthood.

#### 12. References

1. (n.d.). The Print.

https://theprint.in/world/which-countries-allow-commercial-surrogacy/1500231/

2. Amendment to Surrogacy Rules. (2024, February 28). Drishti IAS. Retrieved May 5,

2024, from

https://www.drishtiias.com/daily-updates/daily-news-analysis/amendment-to-surrogacy-rules

- 3. Chhagani, N. (2023, October 21). International Surrogacy Countries-What You Need to Know (in 2024). IVF Conceptions. Retrieved May 5, 2024, from https://www.ivfconceptions.com/international-surrogacy-countries/
- Goyal, S. (2020, August 17). Surrogacy in India: History, Impact on poor and facts.
   Jagran Josh. Retrieved May 5, 2024, from https://www.jagranjosh.com/general-knowledge/surrogacy-in-india-1597665040-1
- 5. Hibino, Y. (-). The advantages and disadvantages of altruistic and commercial surrogacy in India. -, -(-), 10. -. -
- 6. India's Proposed Commercial Surrogacy Ban Is an Assault on Women's Rights. (2019, November 9). *The Wire*. https://thewire.in/law/surrogacy-ban-assault
- 7. Kohli, N. (2011, March 13). Moms market | Latest News India. *Hindustan Times*. https://www.hindustantimes.com/india/moms-market/story-4V8X4IoEqLMRO82K3 x50XI.html
- 8. Panda, T. (2023, January 24). Commercialization of surrogacy in India: The effects of globalisation.

  Times of India.

  https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/blogs/voices/commercialization-of-surrogacy-in-india-the-effects-of-globalisation/
- Rai, D. (2021, July 5). Surrogacy under framework of the Indian Constitution. iPleaders.
   Retrieved May 5, 2024, from https://blog.ipleaders.in/surrogacy-under-framework-of-the-indian-constitution/

- 10. Ramasubramanian, H. G. (2016, August 28). Banning commercial surrogacy will expose women to exploitation. *The Economic Times*. https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/magazines/panache/banning-commercial-surrogacy-will-expose-women-to-exploitation/articleshow/53889509.cms?from=mdr
- 11. Roache, M. (2021, June 30). India's Commercial Surrogacy Ban Could Hurt

  Low-Income Women | TIME. Time.

  https://time.com/6075971/commercial-surrogacy-ban-india/
- 12. Sinha, S. (-). An understanding of Surrogacy: A legal analysis in Indian Context. -, -(-), 7. -
- 13. Surrogacy Biomarkets in India: Troubling Stories from before the 2021 Act. (2022, September 1). The India Forum. Retrieved May 5, 2024, from https://www.theindiaforum.in/article/surrogacy-biomarkets-india-troubling-stories-20 21-act
- 14. Surrogacy in India-A long Journey for the Nation. (2023, March 4). *Times of India*. https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/readersblog/maternitybenefitactboonandbanefort henation/surrogacy-in-india-a-long-journey-for-the-nation-51172/
- 15. THE SURROGACY (REGULATION) ACT, 2021 (NO. 47 OF 2021) vlk/kkj.k izkf/kdkj ls izdkf'kr PUBLISHED BY AUTHORITY lañ 64] ubZ fnYy. (2021, December 25). DHR. Retrieved May 5, 2024, from https://dhr.gov.in/sites/default/files/Surrogacy%20Regulation%20ACT%202021.pdf

16. Suryanarayanan, S. (2023, 9 -). Poverty and Commercial Surrogacy in India: An Intersectional Analytical Approach. *Dignity: A journal of analysis of exploitation and violence*, 8(2), 24. -. -

 $\frac{https://www.deccanherald.com/india/surrogacy-rules-changed-couples-with-medical-condition-can-use-donor-gametes-centre-2907074$ 

<sup>&</sup>quot;The very purpose of surrogacy would get defeated by such rules," an apex court bench had observed last December while permitting more than two dozen petitioners to use the donor eggs to become mothers through surrogacy.